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Westerleigh West Junction circa 1962. In the background, above the farmhouse roof, can be seen the formation of the east curve. The branch to Yate curves away to the left of the photo. In the foreground is the viaduct over the Midland main line. WILF STANLEY
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Introduction


It is often said that the twentieth century was the greatest in terms of technological advances: early wood, wire and fabric aeroplanes developed into supersonic passenger aircraft; slow, coal-fired ships developed into fast, ocean-going luxury liners; slow, outdated trains of gas-lit wooden carriages hauled by steam locomotives developed into sleek, air-conditioned trains of comfortable carriages, pulled by modern electric locomotives equipped with radio-signalling and capable of speeds in excess of 125mph (200km/h).


But, in reality, the great Victorian industrial age of the nineteenth century gave birth to technological advances that were just as ground-breaking in their time. The nineteenth century saw the British Isles covered with railway lines almost as fast as the mid-twentieth century saw many of these lines closed and ripped up.


Almost all the great main lines in the UK were built in the Victorian age and even that great Victorian achievement, the Severn Railway Tunnel, had transformed train services to and from South Wales by the time the Queen and Empress died. However, as yet there was still one thing missing: a direct rail route to South Wales, to enable a faster journey into the Principality from the capital city of London.


Planned at the end of the Victorian age and built at the beginning of the Edwardian era, the South Wales Direct Railway was the answer. Running from a junction with the existing London–Bristol Railway (via Bath) at Wootton Bassett in Wiltshire, to two new junctions with the existing Bristol and South Wales Union Railway (B&SWUR) at Filton and Patchway in Gloucestershire, the Direct line gave the Great Western Railway (GWR) its fast line into South Wales.


Although the line lost its stations in the early 1960s, it survived Dr Beeching’s cuts, gained a new station, Bristol Parkway, in 1972 and went on to become upgraded to the first dedicated High Speed 125mph rail line in 1975. Today, the Direct line is again undergoing upgrading to take the latest high-speed electric trains, which will collect 25kV current from overhead wires. The route will once more be in the vanguard of modern railway technological advances and will become a route fit for the twenty-first century and beyond.


Previous books have concentrated on just the section of line opened in 1903, known as the South Wales Direct line, or the ‘Badminton line’. However, from the time the line opened and provided a direct and shorter route from London to South Wales, the section of line between Filton Junction and Patchway, once part of the Bristol and South Wales Union Railway, became somewhat of a ‘little brother’ to the London–South Wales services. The 1903 survey of the line was taken from Wootton Bassett (inclusive) to the Severn Tunnel (exclusive). Therefore to provide continuity I have included all stations and junctions between Patchway and the Severn Tunnel that were affected by the opening of the new Direct line and without which the descriptions of operating the line would be somewhat lacking.


This book is not a historical survey of the line; it is about how the line was worked and includes the duties (and some names) of those men and women who staffed the stations, signal boxes and goods yards.




CHAPTER 1


A Brief History of the Line


In 1841, the Great Western Railway opened the line between London and Bristol in its entirety. The lucrative market of South Wales and its coalfields was still to be tapped and with the opening up of South Wales it was hoped that the opportunity would be created to seek traffic from the Irish markets and beyond via the development of ports in Wales. To attract this valuable traffic could only sensibly be done by means of a railway, but the River Severn stood as a watery and seemingly insurmountable barrier between England and Wales. Unless the Severn could be crossed in some way, it would seem that the way by rail into England from the Principality of Wales could only be via Gloucester. To go by rail to Bristol and London via Gloucester was not only a long way round, but the Midland Railway was already making inroads into that area. There was little option for the GWR but to look at ways of crossing the River Severn.


However, a river was but a small problem to surmount for a company that could boast none other than the famous Isambard Kingdom Brunel amongst its founders. To this end, various ideas for the river crossing were sought and an abortive scheme for a rail-connected ferry boat crossing was proposed in 1845. In 1856, a new scheme was put forwards: to build a railway line from Bristol to a place on the east bank of the river at New Passage, near Pilning in Gloucestershire. This proposal was more successful and an Act of Parliament was passed bringing into being the Bristol and South Wales Union Railway.


The new, single line was to run from a junction just outside Bristol Temple Meads (close to what is today Dr Day’s Junction) and run through the outskirts of Bristol to the east bank of the River Severn at New Passage. To do so, it would have to climb steeply out of the city to Filton and Patchway. From Patchway, the new line would descend through a tunnel and steadily down to its terminus. It would involve serious engineering works to dig a deep cutting at Horfield and to create embankments between Patchway and Pilning. The new tunnel would be 1,246yd (1,139m) long. A new timber landing stage would need to be built at New Passage to enable steamers to dock. The whole new line would be 11½ (18.5km) miles long. Corresponding works would be carried out on the Welsh side.


From its opening in 1863, the line was operated by the Great Western Railway. Steamers were worked by a contractor, John Bland, on behalf of the GWR. However, whilst providing a much-needed link between London and South Wales via Bristol, the river crossing had its limitations; there was mainly only passenger traffic and some small freight. The service was not reliable, as the treacherous high rise and fall of tides in the Severn (40ft [12m] and the second highest rise and fall of tide in the world) proved difficult for ships and provided uncomfortable journeys for passengers. It was obvious that a different method of crossing the river was needed. Voices clamoured for a railway tunnel and an Act of Parliament was passed in 1872, granting authority for work to commence on a tunnel.


Work started on the Severn Railway Tunnel in 1873, a year after work had commenced on another river crossing, the Severn Railway Bridge, further up the river towards Gloucester. This bridge was backed by the Midland Railway and was intended to link the Midland’s interests in Gloucestershire with the Severn and Wye Valley Railway, the latter having a junction at Lydney with the Great Western line from Gloucester. However, it was only a single track and as the new Severn Tunnel would be double track, the bridge was not seen as any threat to the GWR’s ambitions in South Wales.


The rail bridge was completed in 1879 and was followed in September 1885 by the official opening of the 4-mile, 628yd-long (7km) Severn Tunnel. With the opening of the tunnel, the B&SWUR line, which had been single, was now doubled throughout with a new, 1-mile-long (1.6km) tunnel at Patchway for what was now the Up line between the Severn Tunnel and Patchway. The Up line was also constructed on easier gradients to that of the old line, resulting in the new line running at a different, lower, level between Pilning and Patchway.


Trains were soon running between the developing South Wales ports and Bristol, then onwards to London. The line from the Severn Tunnel to Bristol soon became busy with passenger traffic and large volumes of coal traffic, as well as traffic from other industries. The result was that although the building of the tunnel had speeded up services between Wales and the capital, the extra traffic soon became a problem on the line between Bristol and Swindon. With the increasing need for express trains to run between South Wales and London, the main line was soon operating to capacity. It was realized that there was now a need for a more direct route to the Severn Tunnel; one that would avoid Bath and Bristol.


Plans were drawn up for a shorter, more direct route with easier gradients. This line was to leave the existing Swindon to Bristol line at Wootton Bassett, then join up with the original Bristol and South Wales Union line at Patchway, near Bristol. From Patchway, the line would continue as before to the Severn Tunnel. There would also be a spur to the B&SWUR at Filton, creating a triangle and allowing trains using the new line to run to Bristol as well as South Wales.


There were to be new stations along the route, serving local communities. The line would descend at a gradient of 1 in 300 from Wootton Bassett to Little Somerford, and then rise at 1 in 300 from the Avon Valley up to Badminton. From Badminton, the line would drop at 1 in 300 to Stoke Gifford, where there would be the triangular junction to Filton and Patchway. A small marshalling yard for freight traffic was to be constructed at Stoke Gifford.


Two tunnels would be required to take the new line through the Cotswold Hills: one at Alderton, between Hullavington and Badminton; and one between Badminton and Chipping Sodbury. There was to be a triangular junction at Westerleigh, between Chipping Sodbury and Coalpit Heath, and this would connect the new line to the Midland Railway at Yate, enabling trains to run to and from the Bristol–Gloucester line, over which the GWR had running powers.


The new direct line would cut 10 miles (16km) off the journey to South Wales, relieve the congested line through Bath and speed up services when the line was opened.


Accordingly, the Great Western Railway company laid a bill before Parliament, in which it proposed to construct the new railway line from a junction with the Swindon–Bristol line at Wootton Bassett, near Swindon, to Patchway, just outside Bristol. The new line was to have seven new stations; additionally, three existing stations would be rebuilt. Services between London and South Wales would be made quicker and the bottleneck at Bristol avoided.


The bill received assent and work began on construction of the new railway. The Dowager Duchess of Beaufort performed the ceremony of ‘cutting the first sod’ in a field near Old Sodbury in 1897, which signified that work on the new line had commenced.
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The embankment that so upset Mr Robinson. A BR Standard Class 5 4-6-0 heads west from Coalpit Heath with a train of empty fuel tankers for Avonmouth Docks. WILF STANLEY


In spite of difficulties, which included bad weather and unexpected geological problems, the earthworks, bridges and new station buildings were completed in time to be inspected by the Directors of the Great Western in July 1901. Two years later, on 1 January 1903, the GWR started running freight trains between Wootton Bassett and Badminton and, on 1 May 1903, between Badminton and Patchway. Although the works were complete, passenger trains could not use the line until it had been inspected by the Board of Trade. On 26 June 1903, the Board’s Inspector, Col. Yorke, inspected all the stations and signalling works on the line. He found all to be in order and the line was opened to passenger traffic on 1 July 1903.


Most people in the districts through which the new works of the line passed seemed contented enough with the new railway; after all, it provided some jobs and people could use the stations to travel to other places. They could also send and receive their goods and livestock. Not everyone was happy though; Bristol writer W.J. Robinson, who wrote for the Bristol Times and Mirror mostly on local history and ecclesiastical buildings, chose a series of articles in which to vent his spleen upon the new railway. These articles were published in 1914 as a series of books entitled West Country Churches.1 In the article on Coalpit Heath and its church, Robinson wrote:


It [Coalpit Heath] is noted for the cultivation of plums, and in early spring the plum trees, when clothed in their snowy blossoms, produce a very beautiful effect, giving a special charm to the place, which resembles on a small scale the celebrated Vale of Evesham.


Though the original beauty of parts of the parish has been marred by the unsightly embankment of the railway, and many of its rich meadows have been converted into a stiff and monotonous mound of considerable height which completely shuts off the view …


It is interesting to note that whilst painting a picture of pastoral bliss about Coalpit Heath, Robinson completely fails to make reference to how the village got its name and makes no mention of the various collieries scattered in and around the district that can hardly have enhanced its appearance.


The South Wales Direct line also gets a further taste of Mr Robinson’s dislike for it in his description of the parish of Stoke Gifford: ‘The picturesque little village of Stoke Gifford, about four miles from Bristol … unmolested in its peaceful repose, save that the railway, with its attendant noise and clatter, has come within its boundaries … ’


Although the above was written in the years preceding the publication of West Country Churches, and therefore around seven or eight years after the railway had been opened, Robinson’s distaste is clear; he could almost, in 2014, be writing about the proposed HS2 line.


The new line brought jobs to the areas through which it passed and gave promotional advantages to people currently employed by the Great Western elsewhere on its network. It also brought changes and business opportunities to the various communities upon which it had an impact. Owned and operated by the Great Western Railway from its opening to nationalization in 1948, the line swiftly proved its worth and saw many famous trains during the days of steam operation – the ‘Red Dragon’, ‘The Bristolian’, ‘South Wales Pullman’ and ‘Capitals United Express’ were among them. With its junction to Filton and thence to Bristol, the line also became a diversionary route for the other main line via Bath. Later, in 1910, a further junction, that to Avonmouth, was added at Stoke Gifford, linking the South Wales Direct line to Avonmouth Docks.


World War II saw many of the line’s facilities expanded and a new marshalling yard with signal boxes built between Chipping Sodbury and Westerleigh. Post-war, the line was part of the route for many expresses between London and the Principality, but local services were little used even before the age of the car. The pendulum of the swinging sixties only swung towards closures of stations and withdrawal of the local trains, even before Richard Beeching got his hands on British Railways (BR).


However, the line did not die and in the 1970s was upgraded to become the first dedicated High Speed 125mph line in the country; it even got a new station – Bristol Parkway. Steam- and diesel-hauled excursions now use the line and the twenty-first century has seen the commencement of works for electrification of the line all the way to South Wales.


The new line was one of the first twentieth-century railways to be built and is still in use today as the high-speed line to the West and South Wales. During its 110-year life to date it has undergone a few modifications here and there and has been bridged by the M4 motorway (both over and under) in several places. Once staffed by many men (and women), the line today employs few regular staff, mostly at Bristol Parkway station and Stoke Gifford Civil Engineering sidings, but it was, for many, the place where they had not so much a job as a way of life. In order to illustrate how the line used to be worked, we need to look at some of the people who actually worked on the line, those whose jobs, whilst sometimes small, kept the whole together.




CHAPTER 2


The People who Worked the Line


The Superintendent of the Line


From the start, the line came under the jurisdiction of the Great Western Railway’s Superintendent of the Line, Charles Kislingbury. Mr Kislingbury had come to live in the Cotham area of Bristol, having been previously living in Pontypool, Monmouthshire. His son, John, was Assistant Locomotive Superintendent of the Great Western. Kislingbury was responsible for setting out the duties of the men he was employing to man the stations, goods yards and signal boxes. The following duties are mostly taken from documents written by Charles Kislingbury and issued to each new station at the time of the line’s opening in 1903.


The Station Master


The station master was responsible for everything that happened at his station. The duties of porters, booking and other clerical staff, signalling and goods yard staff all fell under his supervision, as did those of wagon drivers and, latterly, motor drivers. He had to know the various timetables, both passenger and freight (where appropriate) and regulations appertaining to the safe and proper working of his station. To him fell the duty of taking command of emergency working arrangements in the event of derailment or other problems, so he also had to know the requisite signalling regulations.


Additionally, the station master had to know the various rates for carriage of goods and parcels and be acquainted with all the local locations where the railway company’s posters and timetables were displayed.




DUTIES OF THE STATION MASTER


The duties of a station master on the South Wales Direct line were laid out in the individual Station Log Books, personally handwritten by Charles Kislingbury, the Superintendent of the Line, and issued to each station:2


To see that each member of the staff fully understands the whole of the duties allotted to him, that each man is capable of performing such duties, that a list of such duties is from time to time posted so as to be easy of access and that the men may have such list continually before them. To visit daily each signal box under his supervision and see that all current notices and instructions are on hand and properly preserved, understood and carried out by the staff, and to examine and sign the ‘Line Clear’ book at each cabin at the time of such visit. To meet all passenger trains during the time he is registered on duty.


To inspect, not less than once daily, all rooms, offices, water closets and urinals and see that they are in every respect clean and that the latter are kept flushed during the day. To see that all legal notices, time tables etc. are carefully and conspicuously exhibited and renewed from time to time as required and that no other notice than that authorized by the Company is exhibited at the station. To see that the distribution of gratuitous time books and time tables is duly and properly made at the various hotels, public and private offices etc. in accordance with the registered list and, by personal visits, satisfy himself that the Company’s Regulations are carried out in this respect. To see that the Company’s arrangements for the conveyance of passengers, parcels and goods are properly announced and that the Company’s business is in every respect carried out satisfactorily both in regard to the dealing with the goods and parcels and the various advertisements of the Company’s arrangements. To pay special attention to the receipt and despatch of goods and parcels and their delivery to the public and see that all unclaimed goods and luggage are dealt with promptly, in accordance with the regulations of the Company.


To personally receive all cash and deal with the same in accordance with Company’s regulations. To attend, personally, to all correspondence with the public and Chief Officers and deal with the same and the general correspondence promptly.


To prepare all returns and accounts and despatch same to the various offices on the appointed dates. To be responsible for the safe custody of all cash received at the station and see that none is left in insecure places, and on no account, except on special authority, must cash be held over from one day to another.


To see that all circulars and advices are duly and properly noted by all concerned, posted in the guard book and indexed for reference. To enter into Goods Received Book and Inwards and Outwards Abstracts Books. Check change on Inwards invoices.


An additional duty on Sundays was to: ‘Make up cash and look round premises once on each Sunday.’


Specifically for Chipping Sodbury station, although no doubt similar arrangements applied to the other stations, was the following instruction to the station master dated 16 June 1903:


When station master leaves Duty he will leave with the Porter who is on duty for Booking Purposes Ten shillings in change and this with the takings for bookings must at close of day’s work be made up in a Bag with a memo shewing the total amount of such cash and deposited in the signal cabin for the night. When the early turn man comes on duty he will take the cash from the cabin and on arrival of station master will pay same over to him with the amount of bookings during the early morning – The station master to keep a close check upon the issue of tickets to prevent errors etc.


The spelling and grammar are as written by Mr Kislingbury on 1 May1903. The ‘Line Clear Book’ referred to is the signal box Train Register, which the station master had to sign each time he visited the box.





The Porter


The Direct line employed three types of porter at most stations. There was the passenger porter, the goods porter and one or two lad porters. In later years, some stations employed a parcels porter. As with the station master’s duties, Mr Kislingbury wrote out the duties of these staff in each Station Log Book.


The Passenger Porter


The turns of duty for the passenger porter were as follows:






	•

	Week One: 06.30–17.30. Breakfast break: 08.40– 09.10; Dinner: 12.10–12.40.






	•

	Week Two: 10.50–21.50. Dinner: 12.45–13.15; Tea: 16.30–17.30.






	•

	Saturday: 13.00–Midnight. Tea: 16.30–17.30.






	•

	Sundays: 08.30–17.00, alternate weeks. No breaks recorded. (Perhaps Sunday duties were light enough to enable staff to take breaks when needed.)







The passenger porter’s duties were:






	•

	To post all bills and take down any out-of-date ones.






	•

	To do general duties at passenger station.






	•

	Light fires in offices and waiting rooms.






	•

	Clean water closets and urinals and flush same during the day.






	•

	Attend all passenger trains while on duty.






	•

	To label all luggage.






	•

	To load all milk and unload empty milk churns.






	•

	To enter up wagon books and reference off same.






	•

	To assist with parcels traffic, checking the same in and out, booking up as required.






	•

	To collect tickets and cancel same at once, making out return for station master’s signature.






	•

	To sweep platforms and overbridge daily, also to clean windows of station building.






	•

	To trim and clean signal lamps, carry out and bring in the same as instructed by station master. [This latter duty being later incorporated into the lampman’s duty.]







Inevitably there were occasions when the porter on duty was unable to be in two places at once, such as when two trains arrived at the same time. When this happened and one or the other train was late away as a result, or goods were not put on the train, the station master was required to address the problem. One such occasion occurred in November 1950, when Chipping Sodbury station master Reg Newcombe wrote to the signalmen at that station:


November 30th 1950


5.45pm Bristol and 5.30pm Swindon


On several occasions when above trains arrive here at the same time one of these trains has left without parcels and letters.


It has now been arranged for the porter to deal with the Down train (5.30pm Swindon) first. So will signalman please hold Up train in platform by signals until Down train has left and porter has had time to return to Up platform.


The Goods Porter


The turns of duty for the goods porter were as follows:






	•

	Week One: 09.15–21.15. Dinner: 12.15–13.15; Tea: 16.30–17.30.






	•

	Week Two: 06.50–18.50. Breakfast break: 08.50– 09.20; Dinner: 12.15–13.15.






	•

	Saturday: 13.00–Midnight. Tea: 16.30–7.30.






	•

	Sundays: 11.45–21.45, alternate weeks. No breaks recorded again.







The goods porter’s duties were:






	•

	To assist generally with goods traffic.






	•

	Fold (wagon) sheets.






	•

	Take all wagon numbers in and out and record same, making return for signature.






	•

	Clean horse boxes, cattle trucks and pens.






	•

	See all trucks are properly sheeted before despatch.






	•

	To meet all goods trains and assist with shunting.






	•

	Keep weighbridge clean.







As this post was designated an ‘Outdoor’ job, the porter was issued with a mackintosh as well as his usual porter’s uniform.


The Lad Porter


The lad porter generally helped where required. He worked 06.00–18.00 Monday–Saturday and his meal breaks were to be taken ‘as convenient’. On alternate Sundays, he would work 08.00–20.00. Again, no Sunday meal breaks were recorded.


The Checker


The checker was involved with goods duties. His turns of duty were:






	•

	Week One: Monday to Saturday, 09.15–21.15. Dinner: 12.30–13.30; Tea: 17.00–17.45.






	•

	Week Two: Monday to Saturday, 07.00–19.00. Breakfast 09.15–09.45; Dinner 13.30–14.30.






	•

	Sundays: 11.45–21.45, alternate weeks.







The checker’s duties were:






	•

	To check all goods inwards and outwards.






	•

	Register and report all discrepancies.






	•

	Load and unload all tonnage goods.






	•

	See that signatures are obtained for each consignment before going away.






	•

	Fold all (wagon) sheets and see to despatch of same. Enter up all goods received un-entered and report same at once. See all trucks are properly sheeted before despatch of same.






	•

	To see that all cattle trucks are properly cleaned before use. Assist generally at station as instructed by station master.






	•

	To book passengers for trains on early or late turns of duty and carry out the instructions as to disposal of cash laid down.
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The shunter and checker find time for a chat during shunting operations at Chipping Sodbury in the early 1960s. WILF STANLEY


Clerical Staff


Booking clerks were employed and their duties need little description. There were also lad clerks. The duties of the lad clerk at Chipping Sodbury in particular were as follows:






	•

	Week One: 07.00–19.00. Breakfast: 08.40–09.30. Dinner: 13.00–14.00.






	•

	Week Two: 09.15–21.15. Dinner: 13.00–14.00; Tea: 17.00–18.00.






	•

	These hours were worked Monday to Saturday and there were no Sunday duties required.







The lad clerk’s duties were:






	•

	To book all trains while on duty.






	•

	Enter up train book and make proof.






	•

	Keep inwards and outwards books.






	•

	To enter up Goods Received book and keep Abstract book up to date.






	•

	To carry out the invoicing and also to check the charges on inwards invoices.






	•

	To help station master in making up accounts and assist generally at the station as instructed.







The Signalman


The signalman’s job was, obviously, to signal trains, using the block signalling equipment and the levers in the lever frame to control points and signals. To be based at a station meant that there would be regular visits from the station master, who would check to see that everything in the box was in order and that the rules and regulations were being adhered to. Once satisfied that all was in order, the station master would sign his name and the time in the Train Register.


Aside from the station master, a station box would have visits from the porters on occasions, to check train times. If there was shunting to be carried out, the guard or shunter would at some stage inevitably come up into the box for information or to fill their tea can with boiling water. Every other day the permanent way ganger would pass by on his patrol and sometimes come up to see the signalman to report a problem, or just to have a cuppa and pass the time of day. The job of signalman could be either an insular, lonely position, or a very busy job with constant contact with other staff, depending on where a man worked. The rules stated that: ‘Signal boxes must be kept Private’ and this was usually adhered to in the early days.
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‘Signal boxes must be kept clean …’ A spotless Pilning Station box with signalman Harry Rose. WILF STANLEY


The furnishings of a signal box were minimal. A desk was provided on which the Train Register was kept. The desk had a lifting lid and inside it books of rules and regulations were kept, along with other books and paperwork appertaining to the job, such as Wrong Line orders and Single Line working forms. A brass-cased clock often sat on top of the booking desk (as it was known). Some boxes had a larger clock on the wall. There was a small cupboard, also with a lid; this cupboard contained things like soap and blacklead in the top and rags, metal polish and other cleaning equipment in the bottom. There would also be a block of lockers in which each regular signalman based at the box could keep his belongings.


The signalmen were required to keep the floor swept and to polish the lino weekly. They had to polish the brass lever plates and the metal lever tops, as well as the brass lever release plungers and other brass and metalwork. The stove, if fitted, required regular polishing with blacklead. It was a military-style regime and was generally treated as such by signalmen and management alike, even up to the 1994 privatization of the railways.


Moving ‘Up the Ladder’


As regards signalmen’s promotion, it was relatively easy to get ‘up the ladder’ from Class 5 (the lowest and usually easiest job) to Class 4 or 3 boxes. Beyond that, it was ‘dead men’s shoes’, with the chance of getting a Class 2, 1 or Special Class job being fairly remote. Class 4 boxes usually had Sunday turns, but many Class 3s did not. Promotion could, therefore, sometimes mean loss of earnings. It was not unusual for a man to apply for, and get, a Class 3 vacancy at the same time as applying for a Class 2 job. If he was successful in getting the 3, he was in line of seniority for the 2 and it was possible to make this move up to Class 2 without ever taking up the Class 3 vacancy.


As is mentioned in the section on Stoke Gifford yard below, yard boxes were very busy jobs. Frequently they were unable to carry out full booking of every move and train owing to pressure of work. In such instances, the box would either be provided with a ‘booking boy’, or be allowed to carry out only ‘skeleton booking’, for example just the train descriptions and passing times. The booking boy was usually a lad aged between fourteen to eighteen years. Those under eighteen were not allowed to work night shifts and usually a relief signalman was rostered to cover the booking on nights. Filton Junction, Stoke Gifford West and Pilning Junction boxes all had booking boys.


Relief signalman Malcolm Eggleton started his railway career with the Great Western Railway in 1946 as ‘telegraphist’ (the official title for ‘booking boy’) at Filton Junction. Malcolm stayed as booking boy for about a year, before moving to Stoke Gifford West for night turns – still as booking boy. Next, he became relief booking boy, before National Service in the Gloucestershire Regiment during the Korean War. Luckily, one of the Filton Junction signalmen, Ted Hart, kept him informed of vacancies and when Malcolm returned from Korea he applied for and got a vacancy at Hallen Marsh box, in Avonmouth.


As with any young apprentice, a booking boy was subject to practical jokes. Whilst booking at Filton Junction, young Malcolm was once told by signalman Frank Gainsford that the ‘ rails outside needed polishing’ and that he should get the Brasso and get to work. Malcolm did not take the bait.


To start one’s signalling career as a booking boy was considered a good first step on the ladder. It was the best way to learn the job and the signalman would frequently teach the ‘boy’ how to work the job, so that when the boy came of age and applied for a vacancy in a signal box, he would be well placed to get a job. Signalman Baden Lanman at Filton Junction was a Jehovah’s Witness and once he had a lad ‘trained’, he would spend hours writing up a sermon for his next church service, leaving the booking lad to work the frame.


Classification of Signal Boxes


Signal boxes were graded for pay and promotional purposes. Gradings were worked out usually by the District Signalling Inspector on behalf of the Company’s headquarters and were based on the number of trains handled by the box, the number of signal and point lever moves, how many telephone messages were dealt with per shift and so on. Each of these procedures was given a mark. All this was then subjected to a mathematical formula and the result was the box grade. The higher the grade, the more important and busy was the box and hence attracted better pay. The highest graded boxes were ‘Specials’.


On the opening of the Direct line, Brinkworth signal box was graded as Class 5, having achieved fifty-one marks per hour. Little Somerford was also a Class 5 box, with sixty-five marks per hour. Hullavington, too, made Class 5, but Badminton and Chipping Sodbury made Class 4, along with Westerleigh West Junction. Westerleigh East and North boxes, being little used, were unclassified at the time.


Coalpit Heath and Winterbourne were two of the smaller stations, but achieved Class 4 grading, mainly due to the amount of shunting moves required for goods trains. Patchway Station box was a Class 3, as were Pilning Junction and station boxes. Cattybrook Siding and Severn Tunnel East boxes were Class 4, as was Patchway Tunnel box when it opened in 1918.


At the yard boxes, the grades of Stoke Gifford East and West were 3 and 2 respectively.


Over the years, the box grades were reviewed, after which some went up and some went down, according to whether traffic levels increased or decreased. For instance, after a 1926 review, Brinkworth box was reclassified as a Class 4 with eighty-one marks per hour. Stoke Gifford West box, which had started off with 218 marks per hour, was reassessed as 260 marks per hour in a review of 1928, but remained a Class 2. After World War II, it became a Special Class box.


Filton Junction started off as a Class 2 with 239 marks per hour, but later achieved 257 marks after a 1926 reassessment.3


Staffing of Signal Boxes


Signalmen’s jobs initially fell into two categories: regular staff who worked turn and turn about at the same signal box; or reliefmen, who, as the name suggests, worked at any signal box on their district to cover annual leave, sickness and vacancies. Until the 1950s, signalmen worked forty-eight hours per week, Monday to Saturday, with a rostered Sunday duty according to the particular box. When the forty-hour week was agreed, an extra signalman’s post was required; that of district rest day relief. This man had the task of covering the rostered rest days, which were taken once a fortnight.


The rest day relief signalman covered the rest days of all signal boxes on his allocated ‘patch’, according to his grade. For example, a Class 2 Bristol East District rest day relief signalman’s job on the South Wales Direct line in 1953 covered only the Coalpit Heath box. The others in his district were: Holesmouth, Hallen Marsh, Gloucester Rd, Filton West and Henbury, which were all on the Avonmouth line. However, there were so many vacancies in the district that the rest day roster was soon put aside, as many signalmen worked their rest days and the rest day relief signalmen went to many more boxes covering vacancies. The other signal boxes were classed as higher grade and thus their rest days were covered by higher-grade reliefmen.


Although often in isolated positions, country signal boxes were only lonely jobs if they were not at stations or yards. The lonely country junction did have its merits, though. During quiet times it was possible to leave the box and pick blackberries if there were bushes near enough to the box to permit this. When ownership of a motor car came within the reach of railway staff, most relief signalmen bought a car to enable them to reach the farthest signal boxes at which they had to work. During quiet periods, it now became possible to clean one’s car if blackberrying was not your forte. This is what relief signalman Eddy Mann was doing at Badminton box one quiet Sunday; his car was parked behind the signal box and, having left the box door open, Eddy was busy with soap and water when a keen manager arrived on the scene and told him off for leaving the signal box without permission.


The Signal Lampman


This man was usually known as the ‘lampy’. The duties of the lampy were to clean and trim all signal lamps – which were long-burning paraffin lamps (one reservoir of paraffin would last nine days) – then to refill and relight them. He had to clean all spectacle glasses on the signal arms and clean the bullseye lens on the lamps themselves. This involved carrying out the work of cleaning and trimming a set of lamps in the lamp hut, which was a shed made from corrugated sheet metal that stood (usually) close to the signal box and which contained a 45gal (200ltr) drum of paraffin and spare lamps.


[image: image]


Although GWR/BR Western Region signals were not often as high as those of the MR/LMS, it was still quite a climb to the lamp platform, as this view shows. Note the height of the signal in relation to the locomotive; Badminton 1968. R. CUFF/AUTHOR’S COLLECTION


Once a set had been prepared, the lampy would carry them to the part of the layout where he intended to work, using a wooden bar with hooks on to carry the lamps. He would then climb the signal pole and remove the lamps in place. Back on the ground, he would light the replacement lamp and climb the signal once more, replacing the lamp in the case. It was could be treacherous work, climbing a tall signal post, especially in wet and/or windy weather, lamp in one hand, other hand clinging on to the steel ladder for dear life. If it was a bracket signal, that is, a post that carried two or more posts for signal arms, there would be a wooden platform at the top of the ladder. If it was wet weather, this platform would be slippery with rain. In the wind, the whole structure swayed. It was a precarious occupation and today’s Health & Safety would be up in arms.


However, to the lampy this was his day-to-day job and he simply got on with it. He would repeat this operation for all signals and ground signals controlled by that signal box. Before leaving duty, he would go to the signal box to check that all of that box’s signal lamp indicators were showing ‘Lamp In’, meaning that the lamps were lit and burning correctly.


The lampy often wore an old coat that was stained and smelt strongly of paraffin. He would seldom stand very close to the signal box stove for obvious reasons.


During World War II, problems arose with the long-burning lamps – they kept going out. Whether the GWR was using poor-grade wartime paraffin, or whether they suspected that anti-railway fifth-columnists were at work, sabotaging signal lamps is not recorded. What is recorded is a circular from the Divisional Superintendent’s Office dated 27 September 1943:


Long-Burning Lamp Failure


Owing to the large number of failures of long-burning lamps which have occurred recently, it is of the utmost importance that Form 5030 should be completed and sent to the Superintendent of the Line, Stores Superintendent and Divisional Superintendent’s Office without delay in all cases of lamp failures. All lamps which fail must be kept on hand and not in any way tampered with, pending inspection by the Lamp Inspector.




A SAMPLE LAMPMAN’S WEEKLY ROTA


The lampy had a weekly rota and would have a different station/junction to work at each day. The following is the Chipping Sodbury signal lampman’s rota for 1933:


District Inspector’s Office, Bristol, August 24th 1933


HOURS and DUTIES of DISTRICT LAMPMAN, CHIPPING SODBURY


Commencing Monday, 28th August 1933 until further notice.






	•

	
Monday: Little Somerford 07.10am to 3.10pm:
Clean, trim and light all lamps at Little Somerford including Distant signal lamps for Kingsmead Crossing (on the Malmesbury branch) and also take oil to the Crossing for the Crossing gate lamps.





	•

	
Tuesday: Chipping Sodbury and Hullavington 07.10am to 3.10pm:
Clean, trim and light all lamps at Hullavington and also all lamps at Chipping Sodbury on the London side of the signal box.






	•

	
Wednesday: Badminton 07.10am to 3.10pm:
Clean, trim and light all lamps at Badminton.






	•

	
Thursday: Chipping Sodbury and Westerleigh West 07.10am to 3.10pm:
Clean, trim and light all lamps at Chipping Sodbury on the Bristol side of the signal box and all lamps at Westerleigh West.






	•

	
Friday: Wootton Bassett and Incline 07.10am to 3.10pm:
Clean, trim and light all lamps at Wootton Bassett West and Wootton Bassett Incline (this latter on the line to Bath).






	•

	
Saturday: Wootton Bassett and Brinkworth 07.10am to 3.10pm:
Clean, trim and light all lamps at Wootton Bassett East and Brinkworth.







All spectacle glasses to be cleaned on each visit.






[image: image]

Form 5030. This was to be filled in whenever there was a case of lamp failure. Did the GWR believe saboteurs were at work? AUTHOR’S COLLECTION 




By 1948, with the inclusion of Wapley Common box into the Chipping Sodbury man’s duties, the Patchway lampman’s district had taken over the lamping duties at Westerleigh West and Westerleigh East Junctions and ran to Pilning station, including the Down Distant signal and Up Starting signal for Filton West Junction and the lamp on the sidings stop blocks at Filton West. At Pilning station, there was an invisible ‘demarcation line’ at the booking office, where the signal lamps from there to the Severn Tunnel were serviced by the Avonmouth district lampman.


The lamps at Filton Junction and on the Up Home signal from Filton and the Down Starting signal to Patchway, both at Stoke Gifford West, were covered by the Lawrence Hill lampman.


In the event of a lampman being off work through illness or leave, his duty was often covered by a signalman or relief signalman, on overtime.


The Signal and Telegraph Linemen


As the name suggests, these men, known as ‘linemen’, were responsible for maintaining and repairing all the equipment used by the signalling department. In later days, the word ‘telegraph’ was changed to ‘telecommunications’.


At nationalization in 1948, the Bristol Signal & Telegraph Department covered the Direct line between Badminton and Pilning station, Newport department taking over from Pilning (exclusive) through the Severn Tunnel. Swindon men looked after the equipment as far as Hullavington, but were responsible for the telegraph wires as far as Badminton.


Signal and telegraph men were based at Chipping Sodbury and Patchway and in the days before road motor transport was provided, used trains to get to and from locations of work. One frequently used service was the 06.10am Bristol to Swindon via Badminton stopping train. Lineman Ray Baker and his assistant often used this service on an early shift to travel to a job.


Brian Thompson started his career on the Direct line at Chipping Sodbury after World War II and in May 1956 moved to Patchway as an assistant lineman. Ray Baker moved from North Somerset Junction, Bristol, to Patchway in October 1957, as assistant lineman class 2. In March 1959, C.J. Wilks, previously assistant lineman class 2, moved from Patchway to Bristol West as assistant lineman class 1. Don Parker and Perce Starkey were two more men who worked on the Direct line in the fifties and sixties. Brian Thompson ended up in the panel box at Bristol as a senior technician, whilst cricket-loving Ray Baker became a senior technician at Stoke Gifford. Ray Baker had two sons, Andy and Dave, who both became signal technicians at Bristol.
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